### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC06-352

JONATHAN HUEY LAWRENCE,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

-

\_\_\_

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR SANTA ROSA COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

Lower Tribunal Case No. 57-98-270-CFA-B

\_\_\_\_\_

### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Michael P. Reiter 4543 Hedgewood Drive Tallahassee, Florida 32309 Attorney for Appellant (850) 893-4668

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

### STATEMENT OF CASE

On March 24, 2000, Appellant, Jonathan Lawrence, pled quilty to: principal to first-degree murder of Jennifer Robinson, conspiracy to commit first-degree murder, giving alcoholic beverages to a person under twenty-one, and abuse of a dead human corpse. On March 30, 2000, after a penalty phase trial, the jury voted 11 to 1 that the Court sentence the Defendant to death. On April 13, 2000, the Court conducted a Spencer hearing. On August 15, 2000, the Court imposed the sentence of death. The following statutory aggravating factors were found: (1) Lawrence was previously convicted of another capital felony or a felony involving the use or threat of violence to the person (great weight); and (2) the capital felony was a homicide and was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification (great weight). The Court found five statutory mitigators: (1) the capital felony was committed while Lawrence was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance (considerable weight); (2) the capacity of Lawrence to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of law was substantially impaired (considerable weight); (3) the age of Lawrence (twenty-three years) at the time of the crime (some

weight); (4) Lawrence's caring and giving relationship to his family, especially his mother, (little weight); and (5) the sick and disturbed home life in which Lawrence was raised (considerable weight). The trial court also found four non-statutory mitigating circumstances.

A Petition for Writ of Certiorari was denied on October 14, 2003. Lawrence v. Florida, 124 S.Ct. 394 (2003).

Undersigned counsel was appointed to represent the appellant for postconviction proceedings as of July 1, 2003. The appellant filed his 3.851 Motion on July 12, 2004. An evidentiary hearing was conducted on November 3 and 4, 2006. The PC trial court entered its order denying relief on Appellant's 3.851 Motion on January 26, 2006. Appellant filed his Notice of Appeal on February 20, 2006.

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

The facts adopted by this Court were set out in <a href="Lawrence">Lawrence</a>
v. State, 846 So.2d 440 (Fla. 2003), below:

On March 24, 2000, Lawrence pled guilty to principal to first-degree murder of Jennifer Robinson, conspiracy to commit first-degree murder, giving alcoholic beverages to a person under twenty-one, and abuse of a dead human corpse. Lawrence's codefendant, Jeremiah Martel Rodgers, picked up eighteen-year-old Jennifer Robinson from her mother's home on May 7, 1998. Rodgers and Robinson met Lawrence, and all three drove in Lawrence's truck to a secluded area in the woods. After imbibing alcoholic beverages, Robinson had sex with Rodgers and then with Lawrence. At some point

thereafter, Rodgers shot Robinson in the back of the head using Lawrence's Lorcin .380 handgun. n1 The gunshot rendered Robinson instantly unconscious, and she died minutes later. Lawrence and Rodgers loaded Robinson's body into Lawrence's truck and drove further into the woods. Lawrence made an incision into Robinson's leg and removed her calf muscle. Rodgers took Polaroid pictures of the body, including a picture of Lawrence's hand holding Robinson's foot. Lawrence and Rodgers buried Robinson at that site.

Investigators traced Robinson's disappearance to Lawrence and Rodgers. When confronted by Investigator Todd Hand, Lawrence denied knowing Robinson and consented to Hand's request to search Lawrence's trailer and truck. After recovering multiple notes written by Lawrence and Polaroid photographs depicting Robinson post-mortem, Hand arrested Lawrence. One page of the recovered notes states in part: "get her very drunk," "yell in her ears to check consicouse [sic], " "even slap hard, " "rape many, many, many times," "'slice and dice,' disect [sic] completely, " "bag up eatabile [sic] meats," and "bag remains and bury and burn." Another page of notes provides a list of items and tasks, some of which had been checked off or scribbled out. That list includes "coolers of ice = for new meat," strawberry wine, everclear alcohol, scalpels, Polaroid film, and ".380 or-and bowies [knives]." Other items located by investigators during their search of Lawrence's trailer and truck included a box for a Lorcin .380 handgun; empty Polaroid film packages; a piece of human tissue in Lawrence's freezer; a blue and white ice chest; an empty plastic ice baq; disposable gloves; a scrapbook; and several books, including an anatomy book entitled The Incredible Machine, within which had been marked female anatomy pages and pen lines drawn at the calf section of a leg. Lawrence subsequently confessed to his involvement, after waiving his Miranda n2 rights, and led detectives to Robinson's body.

In his statements to law enforcement, Lawrence explained his involvement, which never included a confession regarding

the death of Jennifer Robinson. Rodgers, not Lawrence killed Jennifer Robinson. Further, Lawrence claimed he had no knowledge that Mr. Rodgers intended to kill Jennifer Robinson, nor did he knowingly participate in the planning of Jennifer Robinson's death (Exhibits 3-8, EH 408). Lawrence has stated that they wrote notes before of bad things but never did them.

The following represents Lawrence's perception of the behind-the-scenes facts as they relate to his understanding of the legal process and counsel's representation.

During pre-trial, Ms. Antoinette Stitt and Mr. Elton
Killam (Assistant Public Defenders) obtained discovery from
the State, which included photographs and Lawrence's
statements. When Lawrence was shown crime scene photographs he
became upset and declined to look at them (EH 158, 273).

During some of Stitt's visits with Lawrence at the jail,
Lawrence reported having hallucinations (EH 339). This fact
is not mentioned anywhere in the record until the evidentiary
hearing. Approximately a month before trial, Stitt and Killam
(EH 166) visited Ms. Iona Thompson (Lawrence's mother) at
least once or twice a week with the intent to harass Thompson
to get Lawrence to plead guilty (EH 131-132). Counsel stated
to Thompson that if Lawrence pled guilty they would save his
life, but if he went to trial he would get death (EH 131-132).

During one of the visits to Thompson's residence, Killam took Dr. Barry Crown, a neuropsychologist, with him to speak with Thompson. According to Dr. Crown (EH 95-96), Thompson (EH131), and Ms. Laurie Carter (Lawrence's sister) (EH 146), Killam informed Thompson that if Lawrence pled guilty he would get life and if he went to trial he would get the death penalty. At the evidentiary hearing, Killam acknowledged that Crown, Thompson, and Carter might have gotten that impression because he was adamant that Lawrence had no chance to get a not guilty verdict at the guilt/innocence phase of the trial (EH 169). In addition, Killiam was of the "illusion" he would get Lawrence a life sentence (EH 179-189).

On March 24, 2000, the day of trial, Stitt and Killam video recorded a practice plea season with Lawrence (Exhibit 1 - EH 10). Judge Bell's JA provided Stitt a copy of the questions Judge Bell was going to ask Lawrence during the plea (R. Vol. I; Exhibit 10).

During the video, Stitt informed Lawrence that he had no real defense, even though he emphatically and repeatedly claimed he did not know Jeremiah Rodgers (co-defendant) would kill Jennifer Robinson (EH 408).

MS. STITT: Okay. Do you remember us talking about the fact that we had no real legal defense to the charges? And that to put the jurors through a week or a week and a half of witness after witness

after witness and gory photo after photo would do nothing but harm our chances? (EH 290, Exhibit 1).

At the evidentiary hearing, Stitt acknowledged she knew the elements required to prove "principal," and that Lawrence denied having committed those elements — also, if the jury believed Lawrence's explanation, Lawrence had a defense (EH 289). Although Stitt acknowledged that it was her obligation to inform Lawrence that he had a defense, she had no recollection of doing so (EH 289). Killam also testified at the evidentiary hearing that he had no recollection of telling Lawrence that he had a defense, based upon Lawrence's denial of the elements of principal (EH 178-179).

Also, while recording the video, Stitt made a reference regarding doctors speaking with Lawrence about the strategy of pleading guilty.

MS. STITT: Do you remember the conversations that Mr. Killam and myself, and also the doctors, have had with you about tactically or why we would do that?

(Exhibit 2 at p6). Neither Killam (EH 175) nor Stitt (EH 287-288) had any idea what doctors Stitt was talking about. Stitt and Killam retained the services of Dr. Wood, Dr. Crown, and Dr. Napier to testify on behalf of Lawrence at his penalty phase. Each of the doctors denied any involvement with the strategy to have Lawrence plead guilty or speaking with

Lawrence about a guilty plea (EH 15, 46, 90).

While attempting to convince Lawrence to plead guilty,
Killam informed Lawrence during the video recording, that he,
Killiam, could save Lawrence's life, but failed to mention
that Lawrence could still get the death penalty.

MR. KILLAM: In other words, the evidence that we would be presenting in your behalf in mitigation of what penalty the jury would recommend to the Judge may not be considered by them because they may have formed an opinion of us and you, possible, that we are trying to present to them something that's just not capable of belief.

Whereas on the other hand, the evidence in mitigation of your penalty, that you were impaired at the time that this happened because of your longstanding mental illness, and that you acted under the substantial domination of Jeremiah Rodgers, we have, we believe, enough evidence to convince the jury of the mitigating evidence in your behalf and thereby obtain a life's sentence for you, which we think that is the only thing that we as attorneys can accomplish in this court proceedings (Exhibit 2 at p. 6-7).

During the evidentiary hearing, Killam acknowledged he did not mention to Lawrence the possibility of getting a death sentence, even if he pled guilty, because he was "under some illusion" he could convince the jury to vote for a life sentence (EH 179-180).

As to Lawrence's competency, Killam testified at the evidentiary hearing that Lawrence "seemed to be comprehending what [h]e was telling him" (EH 209). Killam testified that the issue concerning Lawrence's competency had "already been

litigated and decided at that point" (EH 209).

After the practice plea session concluded, Lawrence immediately entered a plea of guilty to all charges in open court (Exhibit 10). The practice plea questions and the actual plea questions primarily consisted of "yes" and "no" answers (Exhibit 2 and 10). The PP trial court asked counsel whether the practice plea was memorialized and if his secretary had provided counsel with a copy of the questions he would ask (Exhibit 10 at p. 2-3).

At the beginning of the plea colloquy, the PP Court asked counsel if the strategy to plead guilty was Lawrence's decision. Killam responded:

MR. KILLAM: Yes, Judge. And we feel that he understands our dilemma, that being, we would be faced with overwhelming evidence. And if we were to argue something along the lines of jury nullification, of course, we've not even admitted to do that. And that would be the only thing that ethically we could argue other than the state had not meet their burden, which in the light of the evidence would be losing credibility with the jury in the next phase of the trial (Exhibit 10 at p. 5)

While explaining their strategy to the Court, Killam did not mention that Lawrence denied any knowledge or participation, or that he had explained to Lawrence what defenses might exist.

Also, prior to the plea colloquy, Stitt stated to the Court:

MS. STITT: ...And we believe that not only through our conversations with him, but also **conversations** with psychologists and with his mother that he does have a complete understanding at this point of what he is doing (Exhibit 10 at p. 6)(Emphasis added).

At the evidentiary hearing, neither Stitt nor Killam had any idea who the psychologists were that Stitt mentioned to the court. Further, each of the doctors testified at the evidentiary hearing that they had no conversations with counsel regarding Lawrence's understanding of the entrance of a plea (EH16, 46, 92, 93). Moreover, as discussed below, the doctors actually believed otherwise.

Dr. Wood, who testified at the original penalty phase, stated that he had examined Lawrence two days after Lawrence entered his plea (EH 15)<sup>1</sup>. Dr. Wood testified Stitt informed him that Lawrence had reported having hallucinations during the penalty phase (EH 17). He told Stitt that he didn't think that Lawrence could proceed (EH 17). Dr. Wood also testified at the evidentiary hearing that based upon his evaluation only days after Lawrence's plea, and Lawrence's reporting of hallucinations, he had no hesitation in saying that on its face, Lawrence was incompetent (EH 26). Dr. Wood testified that he told Stitt that Lawrence was not competent to stand trial, but Stitt told him "we may lose more than we would gain

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Lawrence entered his plea on Friday, March 24, 2000. Dr. Wood

by trying to interrupt the proceedings" (EH 36). Dr. Wood also testified that he had reviewed the plea colloquy and opined that it is almost impossible for Lawrence to fully understand the significance of what was being asked. Dr. Wood's opinion was based upon Lawrence's psychometric record, his interview with Lawrence, and Lawrence's PET scan, (EH28).

At the evidentiary hearing, Dr. Wood testified to the following on cross-examination by Mr. Molchan (Assistant State Attorney):

- Q. Now, and I want to make sure that I understand this, but you were working or down here prior to the plea. And is it correct that you were talking with him on Saturday or Sunday—
- A. Which would be after the plea.
- Q. After the plea.
- A. My memory is that I testified on Monday, and that perhaps his plea was entered the previous Friday. But I'm not sure of that. Well, you have to tell me.
- Q. That's fine. But you do recall at some point in interacting with him over a weekend timeframe?
- A. That's my memory. I think it was on a Sunday. And we made jokes about defiling the Sabbath.
- Q. Okay. And at that point in time did you see any evidence that this individual was incompetent to enter a plea?
- A. I certainly saw evidence that he was incompetent to understand the questions that only years later I learned that he was asked by the Court.

I'm sure that he did not then, and does not now, understand what it means to be a "principal." And I don't think that he understands even "conspiracy." And I don't think that he is able, as we sit here today, to understand exactly, fully what is going on.

What that means in terms of definition of entering a plea I'm just not too sure. This never came up in our discussions as to what he was pleading to.

For example, I understood that he pled to giving alcohol to a minor.

I suspect as a factual matter that he would be able to competently say that he had done so. And knowingly say that.

The larger issues, the more complicated things that he was charged with, I don't believe that he could have understood.

(EH 34-35).

Dr. Napier, who testified at Lawrence's penalty phase, stated at the evidentiary hearing that he had examined Lawrence in 1996 (EH 47). Based upon that examination and the questions presented in the plea colloquy, Dr. Napier did not belive that Lawrence had a complete understanding of the words or procecess (EH 49). Dr. Napier also testified that the use of questions requiring "yes" and "no" answers gives no clear indications about a person's comprehension or understanding of the questions (EH 50).

Dr. Napier testified he had observed Lawrence during his own testimony and was concerned, from his observations,

whether Lawrence was hallucinating (EH 52). Dr. Napier testified he was not informed that Lawrence had reported having hallucinations during the penalty phase. Dr. Napier stated that had he known, he would have recommended Lawrence be evaluated (EH 53).

Dr. Napier also testified that because of Lawrence's mental illness and prior hallucinations, the showing of gory photographs and the playing of his taped statement could very well have been a trigger to cause Lawrence to hallucinate in the courtroom (EH 58).

Dr. Barry Crown, who testified at Lawrence's penalty phase, stated at the evidentiary hearing that when he became aware of counsel's decision to have Lawrence plead guilty, he informed counsel about Lawrence's significant mental incapacity (EH 91). Dr. Crown also testified he had evaluated Lawrence about a year before the penalty phase and again in 2005 (EH 85). Dr. Crown testified that both evaluations indicated the same condition and he opined that Lawrence was incompetent (EH 81, 84).

Dr. Crown testfied at the evidentiary hearing that he was not informed by counsel that Lawrence had reported hallucinations during the penalty phase. However, had he been informed he would have recommended Lawrence be evaluated for

competency (EH 94).

Dr. Crown opined at the evidentiary hearing that Lawrence did not completely understand the process of the plea, the consequences of his plea, or the meaning of all of the words used in the plea (EH 98). Dr. Crown testified that because of his relationship with his attorneys, Lawrence would be more inclinded to follow their direction, even though the court informed Lawrence he could get the death penalty (EH 99).

During the evidentiary hearing, Dr. Crown was shown the video recording of the practice plea (EH 100). During the video recording, Stitt and Killam explained the charges to Lawrence and their concerns about the jury's perception of them and the case (EH 101-104).

MISS STITT: Do you remember us talking about the fact that we had no real legal defense to the charges, and that to put the jurors through a week and a half of witness, after witness, after witness, and gory photo, after photo, after photo, would do nothing but harm our chances.

MR. KILLAM: And also, Jon, what we would have to argue to the jury would be that they would have to just completely disregard all of that evidence, and basically find you guilty or not guilty by arguing to them that they should nullify what the evidence shows. In other words that they can still, if they want to, find you not guilty even though your are guilty.

And this is not something that ethically we feel that we can argue.

We can require the State to present evidence of your guilt as to those charges beyond and to the

exclusion of every reasonable doubt.

We feel they have that evidence. And we feel that the only argument that can be made would be one that would not be ethical, other than to argue that the State has not met their burden. And we feel that we would look foolish to the jury in suggesting that they have not met that burden.

MISS STITT: And not credible in front of them, again, when we are asking them to save your life.

MR. KILLAM: In other words, the evidence that we would be presenting in your behalf in mitigation of what penalty the jury would recommend to the Judge, may not be considered by them because they may have formed an opinion of us, and you, possibly, that we are trying to present to them something that is just not capable of belief.

Whereas on the other hand, the evidence in mitigation of your penalty, that you were impaired at the time this happened because of your long-standing mental illness, and that you acted under the substantial domination of Jeremiah Rodgers, we feel that we have enough evidence to reasonably convince the jury of the existence of the mitigating evidence in your behalf. And thereby obtaing a life sentence for you which is the only thing that we, as attorneys, can accomplish in this court proceeding.

(EH103-104).

When asked whether he believed Lawrence could understood what was being said, Dr. Crown responded:

A. That was so convoluted and compounded that I was having difficulty following it. I find it highly unlikely that someone with a thought disorder, including Jonathan Lawrence, would not have difficulty following it.

He is in his standard catatonic stance.

(EH 105). Lawrence testfied at the evidentiary hearing that

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