IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JONATHAN HUEY LAWRENCE,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

CASE NO. SC06-352

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

CHARMAINE M. MILLSAPS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0989134

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 COUNSEL FOR THE STATE

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

ISSUE V

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY SUMMARILY DENIED THE JUROR INTERVIEWS CLAIM? (Restated)

Lawrence contends that the trial court erred in summarily denying this claim that he should be allowed to interview the jurors in his case based on a study of juries in other Florida capital cases. This claim is procedurally barred because it should have been raised on direct appeal. Furthermore, this Court has consistently rejected such claims as mere fishing

\ \ \ \ \ \ \

expeditions. The trial court properly summarily denied this claim.

The trial court's ruling

The Defendant argues that a study has found that capital jurors in Florida fail to apply the statutory sentencing guidelines in the manner required by law (D. Mot. 61) and this study coupled with the assertion that Florida Rule of Professional Conduct 4-3.5(d)(4) is constitutionally vague allegedly results in the Defendant being denied due process of law and access to the courts (D. Mot. 63). The Defendant's constitutional challenge to the rule governing juror interviews is procedurally barred. See Elledge v. State, 911 So.2d 57, 77-78 (Fla. 2005); Sochor v. State, 883 So.2d 766, 788 (Fla. 2004)("constitutional attack on the rules prohibiting lawyers from contacting jurors because the claim should have been raised on direct appeal and, therefore, is procedurally barred").

Notwithstanding the bar, the Court finds that the Defendant's claim is without merit. The Florida Supreme Court has consistently rejected constitutional challenges to Rule 4-3.5(d)(4). See e.g., Power v. State, 886 So.2d 952, 957 (Fla. 2004); Johnson v. State, 804 So.2d 1218, 1224-1225 (Fla. 2001) (rejecting contention that Rule Regulating the Florida Bar 4-3.5(d)(4) conflicts with defendant's constitutional rights to a fair trial and effective assistance of counsel). Furthermore, the rule provides a method for defendants to interview jurors; in this instance the Defendant has not alleged any specific jury misconduct instead the Defendant references a study. The Court finds this assertion evidences nothing more than a fishing expedition. See e.g. Arbelaez v. State, 775 So.2d 909, 920 (Fla. 2000)(finding that a defendant does not have a right to conduct "fishing expedition" interviews with the jurors after a guilty verdict is returned). claim is summarily denied.

\ \ \ \ \ \ \

The Defendant stated this claim contains factual issues to be determined at an evidentiary hearing. An evidentiary hearing was scheduled pursuant to Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.851(5)(i). See Ex. 1, Order Setting Evidentiary Hearing. The Defendant failed to present any evidence on this matter as such the claim has been waived.

Procedural Bar

As the trial court found, this issue is procedurally barred because it should have been raised on direct appeal. 18

Merits

The Florida Supreme Court has consistently rejected claims regarding juror interviews. In Suggs v. State, 923 So.2d 419, 440 (Fla. 2005), this Court noted it "has consistently rejected constitutional challenges to rule 4- 3.5(d)(4). Suggs, 923 So.2d at 440 (citing Power v. State, 886 So.2d 952, 957 (Fla. 2004) and Johnson v. State, 804 So.2d 1218 (Fla. 2001)). The Suggs Court also explained that the rule provides a mechanism for defendants to interview jurors when there are good faith grounds for a challenge but Suggs did not file a motion requesting permission to interview jurors, alleged any specific

Suggs v. State, 923 So.2d 419, 440 (Fla. 2005)(finding that a constitutional challenge to the rule prohibiting lawyer from communicating with jurors could have and should have been brought on direct appeal and therefore, the "postconviction court was correct to find that the claim was procedurally barred."); Elledge V . State, 911 So.2d 57, 77 (Fla. 2005)(rejecting a constitutional challenge to the rule governing an attorney's ability to interview jurors and determining that the substantive constitutional challenge to the rule governing juror interviews is procedurally barred as it was not raised on direct appeal); Rose v. State, 774 So.2d 629, 637 n. 12 (Fla. 2000) (holding that the claim "attacking the constitutionality of the Florida Bar Rule of Professional Conduct governing interviews of jurors [was] procedurally barred because Rose could have raised this issue on direct appeal").

juror misconduct, nor submitted any sworn statements in this regard. See also *Elledge v. State*, 911 So.2d 57, 77-78 (Fla. 2005)(finding such a claim to lack merit citing *Johnson v. State*, 804 So.2d 1218, 1224-25 (Fla. 2001)(rejecting contention that Rule Regulating the Florida Bar 4-3.5(d)(4) conflicts with defendant's constitutional rights to a fair trial and effective assistance of counsel)).

Lawrence, like Suggs, did not file a motion requesting permission to interview jurors, alleged any specific juror misconduct, nor submit any sworn statements. Indeed, as the trial court noted, while collateral counsel alleged that the issue required factual development and therefore, he was entitled to an evidentiary hearing, he presented no evidence at the evidentiary hearing regarding this claim. Instead, Lawrence relies on a study. The study cited, William S. Geimer & Jonathan Amsterdam, Why Jurors Vote Life or Death: Operative Factors in Ten Florida Death Penalty Cases, 15 Am. J.Crim. L. 1 (1988), does not change the law regarding juror interviews that are merely fishing expeditions. Arbelaez v. State, 775 So.2d 909, 920 (Fla. 2000) (finding that a defendant does not have a right to conduct "fishing expedition" interviews with the jurors). The study concluded that the single most operative factor in the recommendation of life was the "existence of some

\ \ \ \ \

degree of doubt about the guilt of the accused. " Way v. State, 760 So.2d 903, 923 n.20 (Fla. 2000)(Pariente, J., concurring)(discussing study and residual or lingering doubt). The jurors in Lawrence's case, who recommended death eleven to one, if they improperly considered lingering doubt, obviously had no lingering doubt. They were certain of Lawrence's guilt. While this Court has held that lingering doubt is not a proper mitigator, if jurors improperly considered lingering doubt, Lawrence was not the one harmed. The second most important factor in life recommendations, according to the study, was Witherspoon scrupled jurors who "did not really think about it during voir dire and just answered the way the other members of the venire were answering." In other words, the two biggest factors in life recommendations are jurors not following that law, but in a manner that harms the prosecution, not the capital defendant. This study may provide prosecutors with a basis to interview jurors but it does not provide defendants with a basis to interview jurors. 19 The authors of the study also incorrectly believed that lingering doubt as mitigation might be

¹⁹ Of course, double jeopardy precludes a retrial of the penalty phase, so there is no point in prosecutors interviewing jurors to determine if they did not reveal their death scruples during jury selection. But the point is the study shows jurors not following the law in two ways, both of which harm the State, not capital defendants.

constitutionally required. Why Jurors Vote Life or Death:

Operative Factors in Ten Florida Death Penalty Cases, 15 Am.

J.Crim. L. at 31-32. The United States Supreme Court recently reaffirmed that the Eighth Amendment does not require that a defendant be permitted to argue residual doubt as mitigation.

Oregon v. Guzek, - U.S. -, 126 S.Ct. 1226, 1227, 163 L.Ed.2d

1112 (2006)(observing that "[t]his Court's cases have not interpreted the Eighth Amendment as providing such a defendant the right to introduce at sentencing evidence designed to cast 'residual doubt' on his guilt of the basic crime of conviction).

The trial court properly summarily denied this claim.

ISSUE VI

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY SUMMARILY DENIED THE EIGHTH AMENDMENT CHALLENGE TO ELECTROCUTION? (Restated)

Lawrence contends that the trial court erred by summarily denying his claim that electrocution violates the Eighth

Amendment ban on cruel or unusual punishment. As the trial court found, this claim is procedurally barred. Moreover,

Lawrence lacks standing to challenge the electric chair since this is not the default method of execution in Florida.

Additionally, it is meritless because the Florida Supreme Court has rejected Eighth Amendment challenges to electrocution.

The trial court's ruling

The Defendant argues that the process of judicially mandated electrocution exposes him to substantial risks of suffering and degradation considering Florida's practice of botching electrocutions (D. Mot. 64). This fact coupled with the legislatively proffered choice between electrocution or lethal injection subjects the Defendant to psychological torture which renders the provision unconstitutional (D. Mot. 65). Thus, the Defendant contends his rights as guaranteed by the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments will be violated.

The Court finds the constitutional challenges not raised on direct appeal are procedurally barred. See Suggs v. State, 2005 WL 3071927, 17 (Fla. 2005) (finding claims that execution by electrocution or lethal injection constitutes cruel and unusual punishment not raised on direct appeal are procedurally barred). Moreover, the claim that both electrocution and lethal injection constitutes cruel and unusual punishment is without merit. See Provenzano v. Moore, 744 So.2d 413, 415 (Fla. 1999)(holding that execution by electrocution is not cruel and unusual punishment); Sims v. State, 754 So.2d 657, 668 (Fla. 2000)(holding that execution by lethal injection is not cruel and unusual punishment). Accordingly the claim is summarily denied.

Procedural bar

This claim is procedurally barred. Suggs v. State, 2005 WL 3071927, 17 (Fla. 2005)(finding a claim that execution by electrocution or lethal injection constitutes cruel and unusual punishment was procedurally barred because the claim was not raised on direct appeal).

Waiver/lack of standing

Lawrence lacks standing to challenge the electric chair since he will not be executed by electrocution unless he so chooses.

Fierro v. Terhune, 147 F.3d 1158 (9th Cir. 1998)(determining that the petitioners lacked standing to challenge the

constitutionality of lethal gas since they had not chosen execution by that method). The default method of execution is lethal injection, not electrocution. § 922.105(1), Fla. Stat. (2004)(providing: "A death sentence shall be executed by lethal injection, unless the person sentenced to death affirmatively elects to be executed by electrocution."). If Lawrence chooses to be executed by the electric chair, he will have waived any challenge by such a choice. Stewart v. LaGrand, 526 U.S. 115 (1999)(holding capital defendant had waived his right to challenge execution by lethal gas because he opted for it over the over the default method of execution of lethal injection). Basically, only the default method of execution in a state is subject to constitutional challenge.

Merits

Lawrence asserts that electrocution exposes him "to substantial risks of suffering and degradation through physical violence, disfigurement and torment." The Florida Supreme Court has rejected claims that electrocution violates the Eighth Amendment ban on cruel and unusual punishment. Provenzano v. Moore, 744 So.2d 413, 415 (Fla. 1999)(holding that execution by electrocution is not cruel and unusual punishment).²⁰

The Florida Supreme Court has also repeatedly rejected claims that lethal injection is cruel and unusual punishment and

ISSUE VII

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DETERMINED THAT LAWRENCE'S COMPETENCY TO BE EXECUTED CLAIM WAS NOT RIPE? (Restated)

Lawrence argues he may be incompetent at the time of his execution and, if he is, his execution will violate Ford v.

Wainwright, 477 U.S. 399, 410, 106 S.Ct. 2595, 2602, 91 L.Ed.2d

335 (1986), which held that the Eighth Amendment prohibits the execution of a legally insane prisoner. This claim is not ripe and will not be ripe until a death warrant is signed. The trial court properly summarily denied the Ford claim.

repeatedly affirmed summary denial of such claims. Suggs v. State, 2005 WL 3071927, 17 (Fla. 2005)(affirming a summary denial in post-conviction and finding a constitutional challenge to lethal injection to be "without merit because this Court has consistently rejected arguments that these methods of execution are unconstitutional."); Johnson v. State, 904 So.2d 400, 412 (Fla. 2005) (rejecting a claim execution by lethal injection constitutes cruel and unusual punishment in violation of both the Florida and United States Constitutions as being "without merit" and "properly denied without an evidentiary hearing"); Sochor v. State, 883 So.2d 766, 789 (Fla. 2004) (rejecting claims that both electrocution and lethal injection are cruel and unusual punishment); Cole v. State, 841 So.2d 409, 430 (Fla. 2003)(rejecting a claim that lethal injection is cruel or unusual or both because "we previously have found similar arguments to be without merit."); Bryan v. State, 753 So.2d 1244, 1253 (Fla. 2000) (stating that lethal injection "generally viewed as a more humane method of execution"); Sims v. State, 754 So.2d 657 (Fla. 2000)(holding lethal injection is constitutional). This Court has recently reaffirmed this solid wall of precedent. Hill v. State, 921 So.2d 579, 582-583 (Fla. 2006)(concluding that a research letter published in the Lancet did not require the Court to reconsider its holding in Sims); See also Rutherford v. State, 926 So.2d 1100, 1113-1114 (Fla. 2006)(rejecting a claim that the Lancet article required the

Standard of review

Whether a claim is ripe is a question of law reviewed *de novo*.

Lehn v. Holmes, 364 F.3d 862, 866 (7th Cir. 2004); Porter v.

Jones, 319 F.3d 483, 489 (9th Cir. 2003)(noting that mootness, ripeness, and standing are questions of law reviewed *de novo*).

The trial court's ruling

Defendant contends that statistics have shown that an individual incarcerated over a long period of time will suffer diminished capacity. As such, the Defendant argues that he may be incompetent at the time of execution (D. Mot. 65). The Defendant concession that this issue is not ripe for review is correct considering a defendant may not legally raise the issue of his competency to be executed until after a death warrant is issued. See *Hunter v. State*, 817 So.2d 786, 799 (Fla. 2002); Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.811(c). This claim is legally insufficient on its face and is denied.

Merits

Lawrence's claim is not ripe and will not be ripe until the Governor signs a death warrant. 21 Indeed, this Court has

Court to reconsider its holding in *Sims* citing *Hill*, 921 So.2d 579 at 582-583).

Trotter v. State, 932 So.2d 1045, 2006)(rejecting a claim that a capital defendant may incompetent at the time of execution as not ripe for review); Suggs v. State, 923 So.2d 419, 441 (Fla. 2005)(denying a claim that a defendant was insane to be executed because the claim is not ripe for review); Parker v. State, 904 So.2d 370, 380-381 (Fla. 2005)(concluding Parker's concession that this issue is not yet ripe is accurate, and we deny relief on this claim); Hall v. Moore, 792 So.2d 447, 450 (Fla. 2001)(stating that consideration of death-sentenced defendant's claim incompetency or insanity to be executed is premature if death warrant has not been signed); see also Fla. R.Crim. P. 3.811(c)-

rejected the exact argument that Lawrence makes about statistics showing that mental capacity diminishes over a long period of incarceration. Ferrell v. State, 918 So.2d 163, 180 (Fla. 2005) (rejecting a claim that a capital defendant may be incompetent at the time of execution because he has been incarcerated since 1992 and statistics show that mental capacity diminishes over a long period of incarceration as not ripe for review because he has not been found incompetent and a death warrant has not been signed.). Capital defendants often raise this claim, acknowledging that it is not ripe, asserting it is necessary "to preserve" the issue. However, no preservation is required. This Court does not require such a claim be raised in postconviction before it will be considered at the time of execution. Provenzano v. State, 751 So.2d 37, 40 n.4 (Fla. 1999) (noting that "this is the first time that Provenzano has raised a competency to be executed claim" but remanding for an evidentiary hearing pursuant to rule 3.812 to determine his competency to be executed). The United States Supreme Court allows petitioners to file second habeas petitions raising Ford claims, where the first claim was dismissed as not ripe, without the petition being considered a successive petition. Stewart v.

⁽d)(stating that court may not consider motion to stay execution on grounds of incompetence or insanity to be executed until

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